#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the trial court incorrectly determined that now-deceased Emilie Marvil's recorded statements were not testimonial, where Marvil had left the scene before initiating a call to 911 to report a past event, narrated in past tense, and declined medical assistance.
- 2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by admitting the entire recorded 911 call as both an excited utterance and a present sense impression, where Marvil controlled her emotional state throughout the call; delivered detailed, patient, and rational answers to the operator's questions; and delayed initiating the call until she had returned home.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On Feb. 12, 2020, a grand jury indicted Appellant Joshua Austin on charges of first-degree burglary of a senior citizen, kidnapping of a senior citizen, and robbery of a senior citizen. R.13. The charges, which were later amended to also include assault with intent to commit robbery of a senior citizen, R.44, arose from an Oct. 30, 2019 incident in the stairwell of the apartment building at 5922 13<sup>th</sup> Street, Northwest.

The Honorable Rainey Brandt presided over Austin's jury trial in Dec. 2021, and the jury acquitted Austin of kidnapping on Dec. 15, 2021. It found him guilty that day of the remaining three counts: first-degree burglary of a senior citizen,

robbery of a senior citizen, and assault with intent to rob a senior citizen. R.66. Judge Brandt sentenced Austin on Feb. 14, 2022 to concurrent terms of 24 years incarceration for the burglary and robbery convictions, followed by five years of supervised release. R.71. Judge Brandt recognized that the assault conviction merged into the robbery conviction and thus did not impose a sentence for the assault conviction. 2/14/21 Tr. 23. Austin timely appealed, and this appeal is from a final order that disposes of all parties' claims. R.72.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On Oct. 30, 2019, Emilie Marvil returned to her apartment building at 5922 13<sup>th</sup> Street, NW, after buying groceries at the nearby Missouri Market.

Surveillance video captured images of a man entering the apartment building lobby and then looking at his phone as Marvil crossed and then left the lobby. Moments later, out of sight of the building's cameras, Marvil was robbed in the stairwell, and after returning to her apartment, she called 911 to report the incident. Eventually Joshua Austin was identified as the man in the lobby surveillance video and charged with the robbery and related crimes.

At trial, the government's theory was that Austin had seen Marvil's money when she paid for her groceries and then had followed her home to rob her. The defense theory was that Austin was innocently present in the building lobby, while the unknown perpetrator had left unobserved through the basement.

#### The 911 Call

Marvil died of unrelated causes approximately seven months before trial.<sup>1</sup> Over Austin's Confrontation Clause and hearsay objections, the trial court admitted Marvil's entire 911 call at trial, ruling that Marvil's statements were nontestimonial and qualified as both excited utterances and present sense impressions. *See* 5/27/21 Tr. 34, 36 (App. 14, 16); *see also* 12/8/21 Tr. 162-63 (App. 20-21) (continuing objection to 911 call denied); 12/9/21 Tr. 41 (App. 23) (same); R. 39, 47 (government motions to admit statements); R. 41, 48 (Austin's oppositions to motions to admit statements).

In the call, made at 12:49pm on Oct. 30, 2019, Marvil provided initial identifying information and then recounted what had happened to her, because she "just wanted to report that." Gov. Exh. 2 (App. 1 & Vol. II); see 12/9/21 Tr. 40-41 (admitting Gov. Exh. 1 & 2). As the operator's questions continued over almost five minutes, Marvil described her unknown assailant and offered additional detail about the incident. Gov. Exh. 2. Although she indicated that she was injured, she declined medical treatment and told the operator she would be fine, and the operator said the police would come. *Id*.

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At trial, her sister Carol Quase explained to the jury that Marvil had died from long-term illnesses including pneumonia. 12/13/21 Tr. 174.

The main portion of the 911 interrogation went as follows:<sup>2</sup>

Operator: Emilie, what's your emergency?

*Marvil:* I was just attacked in my apartment building walking up the stairs. He took my money, and he threw me down and hit me in the arms, and they are kind of bleeding now. But I just wanted to report that.

Operator: Ok. Do you know who he is?

Marvil: I've never seen him. I-

Operator: Did he have any weapons?

Marvil: I don't know. He threw me down part of the stairs.

*Operator:* Is he still there?

Marvil: No sir. He...

Operator: Ok.

*Marvil:* He got my, he dumped my package, my groceries onto the floor and pulled me down the stair and found my money. He had a bike with him.

*Operator:* Ok, give me his description. Was he... How long ago did it happen?

Marvil: About five minutes ago.

*Operator:* Ok. And give me a description. Was he Black, White, Hispanic, or Asian?

*Marvil:* He was Black and tall and thin. I think he had a cap on. He was riding a bike. He came up behind me in my building. Our security door doesn't work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A recording of Gov. Exh. 2, the 911 call, is included on DVD in Austin's Limited Appendix, Vol. II, and a full transcript prepared by undersigned counsel appears in Vol. I of Austin's Limited Appendix at App. 1-3. Austin has moved to supplement the record with these items.

Operator: Ok.

*Marvil:* So he followed me into the building.

*Operator:* Did you see what type of shirt he had, what type of shirt or pants he had on?

Marvil: No, I'm sorry I didn't.

Operator: You said, you said... And did you see the color of his bike?

Marvil: It was a black bike, and--

*Operator:* He left on a black bike? Did you see what direction he went in?

*Marvil:* No, I was in the stairwell. I only saw him coming in, and because the door doesn't lock, he just kept following me.

*Operator*: Ok. Do you need medical, do you need medical treatment, ma'am?

*Marvil:* I'm going to clean up the abrasions myself and the blood. And I'll be fine.

Operator: Oh, ok. And so you said the security door is not working so police don't need any access codes to get into your building?

*Marvil:* No.

*Operator:* All right.

*Marvil:* And he has a little, oh no, well, he's got \$60 with him, that's what he has.

Operator: Ok, give me one second. He just stole \$60?

*Marvil:* Yes, that's what he got. He got really, really angry because I didn't have a wallet.

*Operator:* Ok. All right, I've already sent your call for dispatch, okay. Give us a call back if there are any changes or any updates. The next available officer will be dispatched and will respond to your location. Ok?

*Marvil:* Oh, what does dispatch mean, please?

*Operator:* It's sent, it's sent out, like, to the queue for officers.

*Marvil:* Will they come to my door?

Operator: Yes, ma'am.

After listening to the call, the trial court characterized Marvil as "in shock.... as if she's trying to bite back her emotions." 5/27/21 Tr. 26-27 (App. 6-7).

According to the trial court, Marvil did not want to cry and was trying to hold back her tears through the conversation with the 911 operator, politely suppressing them until she could break down in private. *Id.* at 27-28. (App. 7-8). The trial court could hear from Marvil's tone that she was "distracted throughout that conversation," *id.* at 28 (App. 8), and the content of the call was "this rambling stream of consciousness dump, most of which isn't directly in response to a question." *Id.* at 26 (App. 6); *see also id.* at 35 (App. 15). The trial court also believed that Marvil was having trouble breathing during the call, taking small breaths or gasping for breath. *Id.* at 26-27 (App. 6-7).

Analyzing the call from the perspective of the 911 operator, the trial court concluded that it was an ongoing emergency situation because the operator did not have clear answers to whether the "angry mystery man" was still in the building or had a weapon, and the operator did know that Marvil was bleeding. 5/27/21 Tr. 31-32 (App. 11-12). The trial court found that Marvil "made that call to get ...

help," *id.* at 34 (App. 14), and her answers were not deliberate, reflective, or "made in reaction to some kind of structured police questioning or interrogation." *Id.* at 32 (App. 12). Thus, because the "primary purpose ... for the 911 call was to meet an ongoing emergency," the 911 tape was not testimonial. *Id.* at 33-34 (App. 13-14).

Transitioning from the Sixth Amendment to the evidentiary question, the trial court continued, "But even if you don't believe that it's not testimonial, it would survive a hearsay objection because it is both a present sense impression and an excited utterance." 5/27/21 Tr. 34 (App. 14). First, it reasoned that the 911 call was an excited utterance because "that everybody has to react to a startling event the same way by crying and ... throwing up their arms in hysterics, ... that's too narrow a way to view or interpret how people process the traumatizing things that happen to them." Id. at 35 (App. 15). In addition, the call was made "within a reasonable time period for an elderly woman to ... get to her apartment and pick up the phone," and the whole call came "across very sincere," without time for Marvil to reflect on what had happened to her. *Id.* at 35-36 (App. 15-16). Alternatively, the trial court ruled that the call was a present sense impression, because Marvil called 911 within five or six minutes of the event, a "time lag [that] can easily be explained away due to her age, the fact that she had to get to her apartment, open the door and make the phone call." *Id.* at 36 (App. 16).

In addition to the 911 call, the trial court also admitted Marvil's statements to EMT Tekola Pettis over Austin's objections. *See* 5/27/21 Tr. 39-40; 12/14/21 Tr. 14-15. Pettis, an employee of D.C. Fire and EMS, then testified at trial that she evaluated Marvil on the afternoon of Oct. 30, 2019, in response to a call for medical attention. 12/14/21 Tr. 13-14. Marvil said "she had been assaulted in the hallway of her apartment building" but decided she did not need to go to the hospital, despite some bruising and abrasions that Pettis observed on Marvil's arms. 12/14/21 Tr. 15-16.

#### The Trial

The evidence at trial also included details about Marvil's apartment building and the police investigation, as well as surveillance video from Missouri Market at 5900 Georgia Avenue, NW, and from the entrance to the apartment building at 5922 13th Street, NW.

Marvil's neighbor Esperanza Canales explained at trial that their apartment building's doors were always broken back in 2019, so people could get into the building without a key. 12/9/21 Tr. 94, 104. One of the two doors in the basement never required a key to open, *id.* at 105, and when it was cold outside, people would come in from the street to sleep in the stairwells and laundry room. *Id.* at 104. She confirmed that the building has cameras by the basement exit doors. *Id.* at 106.

On Oct. 30, 2019, as Canales returned from shopping, she heard Marvil asking for help. 12/9/21 Tr. 99-100; *see also* Gov. Exh. 11 at 12:46:30 (App. Vol. II). Canales found Marvil injured in the stairwell with her things on the ground and offered to call the police or an ambulance. *Id.* at 100-01. Marvil declined, so Canales and her son helped Marvil to Marvil's apartment, and Canales then went home. *Id.* at 100-102.

When Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) Officers Tirik Davis and Norbert Dengler arrived at Marvil's apartment, they spoke with Marvil to see if she needed medical attention and to get a time frame and basic suspect description. 12/9/21 Tr. 115-16, 138-39. Marvil again refused medical attention but provided Davis with a "lookout" description of a black male in his mid-twenties with a medium complexion and thin build, approximately 5'6" to 5'7" tall, wearing dark clothing and maybe a skull cap and riding a black bike without a kickstand.<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 134-35. Dengler then unsuccessfully canvassed the area in his patrol car. *Id.* at 145. He did not, however, remember looking around the back of the building. *Id.* at 148.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The government did not elicit the lookout description during its direct examination of Davis. Defense counsel, however, raised the issue during cross-examination, asking if Davis could remember details of Marvil's description. Davis could not, and the government then refreshed his recollection out of earshot of the jury. *See* 12/9/21 Tr. 121-24, 133-34.

The first detective to arrive at Marvil's apartment was Ryan Savoy, who assisted lead detective John Pugh with the investigation. 12/13/21 Tr. 135, 176.

After interviewing Marvil and Canales, Savoy walked through the crime scene and found a bottle of wine on the basement floor near the stairwell area. *Id.* at 136, 138.

Savoy also obtained video from surveillance cameras at the Missouri Market convenience store, located about a block to a block and a half from Marvil's building.<sup>4</sup> 12/13/21 Tr. 139-40. Footage from the different security cameras at Missouri Market showed Marvil entering the store, followed almost five minutes later by a man who had arrived on a bicycle; was wearing a black hat, dark jacket, and camouflage pants; and was carrying a backpack. *Id.* at 179; Gov. Exh. 18, 20 (App. Vol. II). Inside, Marvil purchased some wine and other items, which the cashier put into a white plastic bag for her.<sup>5</sup> *See* 12/13/21 Tr. 185; Gov. Exh. 19, 21, 22 (App. Vol. II). As Marvil paid from a green pouch at the front counter and received her change, the man - identified by Pugh at trial as Austin - stood nearby along with other customers. Gov. Exh. 19, 21, 22 (App. Vol. II); *see* 12/13/21 Tr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> According to Savoy, the timestamps on the surveillance video from Missouri Market were 3 days, 15 hours, and about 30 minutes behind the actual date and time. 12/13/21 Tr. 142; *see also id.* at 109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Beletech Woledmaiiam, the owner of Missouri Market, testified at trial that she and her family members work at the store; employees are the only ones with access to the plastic bags they use for packing items. 12/13/21 Tr. 129-30, 132.

179, 184, 186-87. Marvil left the store after transferring her groceries into a reusable bag; Austin left afterwards and rode away on his bicycle in a different direction. Gov. Exh. 18, 19, 20 (App. Vol. II); see 12/13/21 Tr. 180, 182.

The police also requested surveillance video from the security cameras at Marvil's apartment building, but the video admitted at trial included only footage showing the front entrance and lobby. 12/9/21 Tr. 146; *see* Gov. Exhs. 11-15 (App. Vol. II). Savoy could not remember at trial if he had watched surveillance video from the back of the apartment building, 12/13/21 Tr. 160, and he admitted that he had not looked for cameras in the back of the building. *Id.* at 157. Dengler similarly could not recall if he had seen those cameras. 12/9/21 Tr. 149.

At timestamp 12:43,6 the admitted videos show Marvil entering the front door, followed by a man in camouflage-style pants identified as Austin. 12/13/21 Tr. 189; Gov. Exh. 11, 12 (App. Vol. II). After entering, Austin walked to the side of the lobby to use his phone, while Marvil walked up the lobby steps and turned to look at him. Gov. Exh. 12 (App. Vol. II); *see* 12/13/21 Tr. 191. Marvil then exited the lobby camera's view. *Id.* About nine seconds later, Austin also left the camera's view in the same direction. *Id.* Another forty seconds later, Austin reappeared in the lobby, exited the front door, and rode away on his bicycle. Gov.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> According to Savoy, the surveillance video from 5922 13<sup>th</sup> Street, NW, had timestamps approximately five minutes faster than real time. 12/13/21 Tr. 152.

Exh. 14; Gov. Exh. 11 at 12:44:48 (App. Vol. II); see 12/13/21 Tr. 190, 193. Two minutes later, Canales entered the lobby. Gov. Exh. 11 at 12:46:30 (App. Vol. II).

After the incident, forensic scientist Rodney Langford photographed the basement and Marvil's apartment and recovered a green plastic purse, a plastic bag, a fabric bag, and a small bottle of Sutter Home wine that forensic evidence analyst Catryna Palmer later tested for latent fingerprints. 12/9/21 Tr. 52-53, 57, 64-65, 67; 12/13/21 Tr. 31, 34. Palmer was not able to recover any prints from the green plastic pouch, fabric bag, or wine bottle. 12/13/21 Tr. 33, 53, 57. The only latent prints she found were on the plastic bag. *Id.* at 38-42.

Fingerprint expert Glenn Langenburg then compared 19 images of prints taken by Palmer to known prints of Austin. 12/13/21 Tr. 91, 92-93. He found nine prints suitable for comparison and determined that there was extremely strong support to conclude that three of them matched Austin: left palm print, left ring finger, and right middle finger. 12/13/21 Tr. 91, 96, 97, 99. Another print belonged to someone else, and he could not reach a definitive conclusion for the remaining five. *Id.* at 98.

When questioned at trial by defense counsel, Detective Pugh testified that Marvil said she could not identify the suspect in a photograph identification process because she was attacked from behind. 12/14/21 Tr. 10-11. After learning of the fingerprint match, however, Pugh showed a screen shot from the apartment

Joshua Austin. 12/9/21 Tr. 47; 12/13/21 Tr. 195-97. In addition, Pugh compared the jacket and watch Austin wore on Sept. 25, 2019, captured on another video, with the jacket and watch in the Oct. 30 video and concluded they were the same or similar. 12/13/21 Tr. 198.

The defense presented no witnesses. Although the trial court and government had expressed concern during trial that one juror was sleeping (a student in the middle of exams who was scheduled to graduate the following week), neither party requested substituting an alternate. *See* 12/9/21 Tr. 80-86, 153-55; 12/13/21 Tr. 10, 115-20, 201-06; 12/14/21 Tr. 39-41. After deliberating, the jury then acquitted Austin of kidnapping Marvil but convicted him of burglary, robbery, and assault with intent to commit robbery. 12/15/21 Tr. 91-92; R.66.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The government failed to meet its burden of establishing that Emilie Marvil's 911 call was admissible at Austin's trial under both the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and the rules of evidence governing hearsay, and the trial court committed reversible error by ruling otherwise.

First, the circumstances, indicate that Marvil made her statements to the 911 operator with the primary purpose of reporting a completed crime, absent any imminent danger or ongoing emergency. By the time Marvil initiated the 911 call

to report what had happened, her assailant had left the scene, Marvil herself had also left the scene and returned to her apartment, and she felt no need for medical assistance. The emergency having passed, she then provided the 911 operator with a measured and responsive narrative description of what had already happened. The call was thus testimonial, and its admission at trial violated Austin's constitutional right of confrontation.

Even if Marvil's out-of-court statements on the 911 call were not constitutionally inadmissible, the trial court abused its discretion by admitting them as exceptions to the rule against hearsay. Contrary to the trial court's conclusion, Marvil's control of her emotional state during the call represented a degree of cognitive functioning inconsistent with an excited utterance, and the content and tone of her statements further indicated self-awareness and reflection. Similarly, the statements' lack of spontaneity and contemporaneity with the assault preclude the admission of the call as a present sense impression. By relying on an improper legal standard and clearly erroneous factual findings, the trial court erred in admitting the call as both an excited utterance and present sense impression.

The trial court's constitutional and evidentiary errors are reversible, because the recorded 911 call was the only direct evidence at trial of what happened to Marvil in the stairwell of her apartment building and, as the government admitted, filled an important gap for the jury. The government cannot show that its improper

admission was harmless, and this court cannot say with fair assurance that it did not substantially sway the judgment. This court should therefore reverse Austin's convictions and remand for further proceedings.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The trial court violated Austin's 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment Confrontation Clause right by admitting testimonial statements from the deceased complainant Emilie Marvil.

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