BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 22-CF-85

JOSHUA C. AUSTIN,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

Chrisellen R. Kolb Elizabeth H. Danello Kristian L. Hinson Emma McArthur

- * KATHERINE M. KELLY D.C. Bar #447112 Assistant United States Attorneys
- Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Katherine.Kelly@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2019-CF2-16287

Clark of the Court

Clerk of the Court Received 09/18/2023 03:12 PM Resubmitted 09/18/2023 03:24 PM Filed 09/18/2023 03:24 PM

Appellant,

Appellee.

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

1200-01 (Ohio Ct. App. 2016). The court rejected the defendant's arguments that the declarant's statements were not excited utterances because the officer had described the declarant's emotional state, by testifying, "She seemed somewhat stunned. She had sort of a flat affect. She seemed timid. She seemed almost shellshocked." Id. at 1200-01. The court held that "[a] declarant's failure to react in a fashion completely dominated by hysteria and shock should not automatically render a statement inadmissible as an excited utterance." Id. at 1201 (citation omitted). The court found the declarant's "relative lack of outward emotion [wa]s not necessarily calm but rather shock," and "a statement made while in shock is an excited utterance." Id. (citations omitted); see also State v. Beasley, 100 N.E.3d 1028, 1042, 1064 (Ohio 2018) (statement of victim, who was bleeding from gunshot to elbow, and who was described by person to whom victim reported the incident as "pale and shaking, scared, and fidgety," properly admitted as excited utterance).

The trial court's personal assessment of Marvil's voice during the 911 call is entitled to deference from this Court. *See Pelzer v. United States*, 166 A.3d 956, 963 (D.C. 2017); *Gabramadhin v. United States*, 137 A.3d 178, 184 (D.C. 2016). This Court may find that although Marvil was not crying, yelling, or exhibiting hysteria during the call, she was indeed in shock, as the trial court found. *United States v. Alexander*, 331 F.3d 116, 124 (D.C. Cir. 2003) (refusing to disturb trial court's ruling that it was clear from 911 call that crime victim was upset in phone call even where victim's voice remained monotone through call except when he became upset with 911 operator). The clear-error standard "plainly does not entitle a reviewing court to reverse the finding of the trier of fact simply because it is convinced that it would have decided the case differently." *Anderson v. Bessemer City*, 470 U.S. 564, 573 (1985); *see also Simmons v. United States*, 945 A.2d 1183, 1187 (D.C. 2008) (trial judge reasonably could find the three elements for an excited utterance had been met; "that the judge arguably could have evaluated the facts differently and found otherwise does not disentitle his decision to our deference on appeal"). This likewise holds true in applying plain-error review.

Austin's claim that the third element of the excited-utterance test was unmet also lacks merit. The 911 call itself, discussed supra, and the surrounding circumstances reflect the spontaneity and sincerity of Marvil's statements. As Canales entered the front door of the building, she heard Marvil pleading for help (12/9/21 Tr. 100). Canales found Marvil "spouting blood on her hands," with her purse and other items strewn around her on the floor (*id*. 100-01). In helping Marvil to her apartment, Canales had difficulty getting Marvil up the stairs; Marvil "was trembling a lot," "crying a lot," and "she wasn't able to move her feet" (*id*. 101). It took both Canales and her son to get Marvil up the stairs (*id*. 101-02). All of this evidence reflects Marvil's shocked, upset, and injured state in the minutes before she made the 911 call, and demonstrates the very slim likelihood that while attempting to summon help as she lay on the stairwell floor, and while physically struggling to her apartment, Marvil was reflecting and deliberating on what to say to the 911 operator. *See, e.g., Parker,* 249 A.3d at 406 (declarant's fresh injuries weighed in favor of finding excited utterance). Even body-worn-camera footage when police officers arrived in response to the 911 call showed Marvil slowly opening her apartment door, wide-eyed and apparently fearful (GE102 at 2:25-2:51).

The fact that Marvil made the 911 call herself does not undercut that it was an excited utterance. This Court has upheld 911 calls as excited utterances in cases where the complainant made the call. *See, e.g., Goodwine v. United States,* 990 A.2d 965, 966-67 (D.C. 2010); *Teasley,* 899 A.2d at 126-27. Nor does the four-minute-and-39-second length of the call mean that it was not an excited utterance. The length of this call is not comparable to the 12- and 17-minute 911 calls this Court found were not excited utterances due in part to their length in *Gabramadhin,* 137 A.3d at 183-84, and *Mayhand,* 127 A.3d at 1201, 1211. That many of Marvil's statements were in response to the operator's questions did not show that they were not excited utterances. *Teasley,* 899 A.2d at 129 n.4.

3. The 911 Call Was Properly Admitted as a Present Sense Impression.

Under the hearsay exception for present sense impressions, this Court permits the admission of "statements describing or explaining events which the declarant is observing at the time he or she makes the declaration or immediately thereafter." *Hallums v. United States,* 841 A.2d 1270, 1276 (D.C. 2004). The exception is based on the rationale that such statements "are considered reliable because the immediacy eliminates the concern for lack of memory and precludes time for intentional deception." *Id.* at 1277. This Court has indicated that the time interval between the observance and the statement should be short. *Id.* at 1278. "[T]he appropriate inquiry is whether sufficient time elapsed to have permitted reflective thought." 2 McCormick on Evidence § 271 (8th ed. July 2022 update).

Austin's argument (at 35) that the 911 call was not a present sense impression because it was not sufficiently immediate to the robbery lacks merit. Austin relies on *Goodwine*, 990 A.2d at 967, and *Gardner v. United States*, 898 A.2d 367, 374 (D.C. 2006), to assert that Marvil's 911 call—which he claims was made eight to 10 minutes after the robbery—was insufficiently contemporaneous. Although *Goodwine* and *Gardner*, respectively, held that statements made during, and a few seconds after, an event were present sense impressions, neither case addressed a temporal limit for applying that hearsay exception. Numerous other courts have found statements to fit the present-sense-impression exception well beyond those points and closer to the timing of the 911 call here. *See, e.g., United States v. Hawkins*, 59 F.3d 723, 730 (8th Cir. 1995) (upholding admission of call placed approximately seven minutes after underlying events) *vacated on other grounds*, *Hawkins v. United States*, 516 U.S. 1168 (1996); *Miller v. Crown Amusements, Inc.*, 821 F. Supp. 703, 706-07 (S.D. Ga. 1993) (911 call made "in all likelihood less than 10 minutes after" accident was substantially contemporaneous); *United States v. Obayagbona*, 627 F. Supp. 329, 333-34, 339-40 (E.D.N.Y. 1985) (statement made by undercover agent 14 minutes and 25 seconds after defendant provided him with heroin sample fell within present-sense-impression exception); *State v. Odom*, 341 S.E.2d 332, 335-36 (N.C. 1986) (witness's description of abduction to officer who arrived on scene at least 10 minutes after abduction was present sense impression); *but see Hilyer v. Howat Concrete Co.*, 578 F.2d 422, n.7 (D.C. Cir. 1978) (finding it "doubtful" that witness's statement to officer made at least 15, and possibly up to 45, minutes after accident was present sense impression).

Also, Austin's claim (at 34-35) that the 911 call cannot have been a present sense impression because Marvil provided "deliberate and appropriate answers" to all the operator's questions and she paused "to check her recollection" lacks merit. Responses to questions can qualify as present sense impressions. *United States v. Boyce,* 742 F.3d 792, 797 (7th Cir. 2014) ("One can still make statements without calculated narration even if made in responses to questions"). Austin's self-serving characterization (at 34-35) of Marvil's pauses during the call as periods of reflection and his claim that rather than have Canales call 911, Marvil took time to "collect

herself mentally and physically" on her way to her apartment before calling 911 are speculative and are at odds with the trial evidence.

The evidence showed that there was some language barrier between Canales and Marvil, and that Marvil was trembling and crying and had physical difficulty getting up the stairs to go to her apartment (12/9/21 Tr. 100-02). Thus, it is far from clear that Marvil's negative response when Canales asked if Marvil wanted her to call an ambulance or the police can be properly viewed as purposefully and reflectively rebuffing her first opportunity to make a 911 call. Marvil's physical difficulty and emotional state while trying to get to her apartment undercut the notion that she was taking time to collect herself before calling 911.

In any event, those characterizations of Marvil's actions do not undermine the trial court's factual findings. *See Anderson*, 470 U.S. at 574 (factfinder's choice between two permissible views of the evidence cannot be clearly erroneous); *Teasley*, 899 A.2d at 128-29 ("advocate's alternative view" that some parts of complainant's statement showed deliberation does not undermine trial court's factual findings). The trial court found that the 911 call made very clear that Marvil was having trouble breathing (5/27/21 Tr. 26-27). The court found that Marvil was "in shock" (*id.* 26), and sounded "distracted throughout the conversation" (*id.* 28). The court also found that "nothing about this 911 call even remotely suggest[ed]" anything deliberate or reflective about Marvil's answers (*id.* 32). None of those

factual findings is clearly erroneous based on the evidence presented. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion, or plainly err, in admitting the 911 call as a present sense impression.

D. Any Error in Admitting the 911 Call Was Harmless.

Where the admission of statements has violated the Confrontation Clause, reversal is required "unless the government can show beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless because it did not contribute to the eventual verdict reached." *Lewis v. United States,* 938 A.2d 771, 776 (D.C. 2007). Thus, to find a constitutional error was harmless, this Court examines whether it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the errors[.]" *Id.* (quoting *Neder v. United States,* 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)).

Generally, if a 911 call has been improperly admitted as an excited utterance, such error is reviewed under the non-constitutional harmless-error standard. *See Odemns v. United States,* 901 A.2d 770, 781 (D.C. 2006); *see also Kotteakos v. United States,* 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946) (error harmless where one can say "with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the error"). Likewise, any error in admitting a 911 call as a present sense impression is generally

subject to *Kotteakos* harmless-error review. *Sims*, 213 A.3d at 1270, 1272.¹⁷ However, because Austin did not preserve these hearsay-exception claims, he must show that the trial court's plain error affected his substantial rights, and "seriously affect[ed] the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." *Olano*, 507 U.S. at 732, 734.

The trial court's admission of the 911 call caused no harm or prejudice under any standard of review. Although the government played and discussed the 911 call in its opening statement and closing argument, the call, in fact, added little to the government's case. Austin argues (at 24-25) that the 911 call provided the only evidence that a robbery occurred. Yet even apart from the 911 call, there was ample evidence from which the jury could infer the burglary, robbery, and assault. EMT Pettis testified that when she went to Marvil's apartment building on October 30, 2019, Marvil told Pettis that she had been assaulted in the building's hallway, and Pettis saw the bruising and abrasions on Marvil's arms (12/14/21 Tr. 12-16). Less than two minutes after Austin fled the building, Canales arrived there (12/13/21 Tr. 190; GE11 at 12:44:48-12:44:54, 12:46:34). Canales heard cries for help and found Marvil bleeding and upset in the stairwell with her purse and groceries strewn about

¹⁷ Also, a "trial court's use of an improper ground for admission of evidence is harmless if the evidence was admissible for the same purpose on some other ground." *United States v. Winchenbach*, 197 F.3d 548, 557 (1st Cir. 1999).

her. See supra pp. 2-3. A photo taken in Marvil's apartment after the incident showed her green plastic change purse sitting empty on a chair (12/9/21 Tr. 118; GE106). As shown in video footage from the Missouri Market, that purse matched the small green purse in which Marvil placed her change from the cashier as Austin stood within arm's reach of Marvil (12/13/21 Tr. 186-87; GE22 at 06:38-07:38). Indeed, even without the content of the 911 call being admitted at trial, the fact that police officers responded to Marvil's apartment in response to a 911 call would have been admissible. All this evidence compelled the inference that Austin assaulted Marvil and stole the money from her change purse during the robbery.¹⁸ Notably, Austin did not contest at trial that Marvil was attacked in the stairwell or that the charged crimes were committed (12/15/21 Tr. 51-54).

On the sole disputed issue of identification, the 911 call on its face did not prejudice the defense. Marvil did not name Austin, and her description of the assailant was cumulative of—and even less detailed than—Officer Davis's testimony about the description she gave him (compare GE2 with 12/9/21 Tr. 134-35). Officer Dengler's description of the lookout information on which he based his canvas of the area also provided descriptive information of the assailant and a bicycle (12/9/21 Tr. 143-45).

¹⁸ Although the 911 call provided the only evidence that Austin took \$60, the precise amount taken was not relevant to any issue at trial.

Moreover, the trial evidence as a whole provides compelling assurance that the jury would have convicted Austin even without the 911 call. The fact that Austin was at the Missouri Market at the same time as Marvil was uncontested, as was the fact that Austin was in Marvil's apartment building, entered right behind Marvil, and later exited through the same front door (12/9/21 Tr. 37; 12/15/21 Tr. 53, 61). Austin's only defense was that someone else committed the assault and robbery. Even without the 911 call, there was overwhelming evidence that Austin was the perpetrator.

To start, three of Austin's prints were found on the exterior of the white plastic grocery bag in which the cashier packed Marvil's groceries at the Missouri Market. See supra pp. 6, 8. As the market's owner testified, Austin did not work there, and those bags were kept behind the counter where only she and two family members had access to them (12/13/21 Tr. 130-32). Neither the video footage from the market nor from Marvil's apartment building showed Austin touch the white grocery bag. Thus, the most reasonable inference from the evidence is that he left his prints on the bag as he assaulted and robbed Marvil in the stairwell.

The video footage was also highly incriminating. It showed Austin standing next to Marvil as she received change from the Missouri Market cashier and placed it in her green change purse. See supra pp. 8, 42. Video footage further showed Austin exit the market shortly after Marvil and stand at his nearby bicycle as Marvil arranged her bags before walking away. See supra p. 9. Austin then left with his bicycle, and was shown in video footage minutes later, riding up behind Marvil and catching the front door of her building as it was closing behind her. See supra pp. 9-10; GE18 at 11:33-12:36. Then, Austin stood at the side of the lobby as Marvil slowly made her way through the lobby and out of camera range. See supra p. 10. Nine seconds later, Austin crossed the lobby and walked out of camera range in the same place Marvil had. See supra pp. 10-11. The stairwell where Marvil was robbed was just 15 feet from where Marvil and Austin disappeared from camera range (12/13/21 Tr. 138; GE115). Austin returned to the lobby 40 seconds later from the same point he left it, hurried out the front door, and took off on his bicycle. See supra pp. 10-11.

Just a few minutes later, Canales entered the building, heard cries for help, and found Marvil bleeding in the stairwell with her purse and groceries strewn about her. See supra pp. 2-3, 10-11, 41. A photo taken in Marvil's apartment after the incident showed her green plastic change purse sitting empty on a chair (12/9/21 Tr. 118; GE106). All this evidence compelled the inference that Austin assaulted Marvil and stole the money from her change purse during the robbery. Thus, the admission of the 911 call, if erroneous, was harmless under any standard.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully submits that the judgment of

the Superior Court should be affirmed.